Should Britain Join the Euro?

**Should Britain Join the Euro?** The Chancellor's Five Tests Examined PATRICK MINFORD



First published in Great Britain in 2002 by The Institute of Economic Affairs 2 Lord North Street Westminster London SW1P 3LB in association with Profile Books Ltd

Copyright © Institute of Economic Affairs 2002

The moral right of the author has been asserted.

All rights reserved. Without limiting the rights under copyright reserved above, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or introduced into a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise), without the prior written permission of both the copyright owner and the publisher of this book.

A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

ISBN O 255 36527 6

Many IEA publications are translated into languages other than English or are reprinted. Permission to translate or to reprint should be sought from the General Director at the address above.

> Typeset in Stone by MacGuru info@macguru.org.uk

Printed and bound in Great Britain by Hobbs the Printers

# CONTENTS

	The author	7
	Foreword	9
	Summary	13
	List of tables and figures	15
1	Introduction	19
2	The benefits of EMU	23
	Transactions costs	23
	Exchange risk, trade, foreign investment and	
	the cost of capital	25
	Transparency of price comparison	36
3	The costs of EMU for the UK	39
	Shocks without an independent currency	41
	Harmonisation	50
	Bail-out and the emerging state pension crisis	52
4	Conclusions	55
	Appendix: A comparison of EMU with floating for the UK	59

References

# About the IEA

68

65

### THE AUTHOR

Patrick Minford has been Professor of Economics at the Cardiff Business School, University of Wales at Cardiff, since October 1997. Between 1967 and 1976 he held economic positions in the Ministry of Finance, Malawi, the Directors' staff of Courtaulds Limited, HM Treasury, HM Treasury's delegation to Washington, DC, Manchester University, and the National Institute for Economic and Social Research. From 1976 to 1997 he was Professor of Economics at Liverpool University.

He was a member of the Monopolies and Mergers Commission from 1990 to 1996 and one of HM Treasury's Panel of Forecasters (the 'Six Wise Men') from January 1993 to December 1996. He was awarded the CBE for services to economics in 1996.

He is the author of books and articles on exchange rates, unemployment, housing and macroeconomics, and writes a regular City column in the *Daily Telegraph*. He is Director of the Liverpool Research Group in Macroeconomics, which publishes forecasts of all major economies monthly, together with policy and investment advice.

#### FOREWORD

Britain's Chancellor of the Exchequer has specified five economic tests to help in the crucial economic decision as to whether or not Britain should adopt the euro in place of the pound. They must, the government has said, be met 'clearly and unambiguously'.

In Occasional Paper 126, Professor Patrick Minford, one of Britain's most distinguished economists, does indeed come to a clear and unambiguous conclusion. After assessing the costs and benefits, he contends that it would be 'strongly against British interests to join' in the single currency stage of Economic and Monetary Union 'as it is constituted and planned' (p. 57). A different type of project, in which a free market approach replaced the present political aims of centralising power in a federal union, might be a different matter. But the project on offer is unattractive, compared with keeping the pound, and might well be damaging to the British economy.

In reaching this conclusion, Professor Minford is careful to analyse the arguments both for and against Britain's membership of the euro, taking into account economic analyses carried out both by him and by others. On the benefits side, he finds little merit in the argument that transactions costs would be reduced, given the small savings involved and the costs of changeover. Nor is the argument convincing that price comparisons would become easier: it is of little relevance except for border towns, of which Britain has none. The core of the pro argument, he says, is the elimination of exchange rate risk against the euro. But the euro is a regional currency which has fluctuated considerably against the dollar, and it is by no means certain that total exchange rate risk would be lowered by joining the euro zone. In any case, financial markets can diversify away such risks.

As regards costs, a major problem, according to Minford, is the loss of interest-rate-setting powers, since a single currency implies a single interest rate. It is true that, under optimal currency conditions, the variability of British output, employment and prices in response to shocks might not increase. But those optimal conditions do not appear to pertain. Both economic analysis and econometric modelling suggest that such variability would probably be much greater in the euro zone than with a separate currency.

Harmonisation is another problem. Minford argues that there is a harmonisation agenda which is implicit in the EMU project and which is likely to involve increases in tax rates, social support and regulation. He demonstrates, from the results of econometric modelling, how damaging such harmonisation could be for the British economy. Moreover, we should be very concerned at the serious projected state pension deficits in Germany, France and Italy – amounting to the equivalent of one-third of Britain's GDP. As EMU becomes more integrated, these 'potentially explosive state financial liabilities' could well fall partly on the British taxpayer.

Professor Minford's economic tests therefore lead him to a clear and unequivocal conclusion for the Chancellor. Minford comes down strongly on the 'no' side of the argument. In his estimation, the likely benefits are insubstantial and are far exceeded by the likely costs. The views expressed in this Occasional Paper are, as in all IEA publications, those of the author and not those of the Institute (which has no corporate view), its managing trustees, Academic Advisory Council members or senior staff. But the detailed and clearly argued case Professor Minford presents should be examined with great care by the Treasury team, which has evidently already embarked on making the economic assessment under the Chancellor's five tests. The decision is so important for the economic future of Britain that nothing less than the most objective economic analysis, untainted by 'political' considerations, will suffice.

COLIN ROBINSON

Editorial Director, Institute of Economic Affairs Professor of Economics, University of Surrey June 2002

# SUMMARY

- The driving force behind monetary union is political. However, political preferences should not be dressed up as economic arguments. The economic costs and benefits of Britain's membership can be assessed.
- One benefit of membership is reduced transactions costs, because there would no longer be currency exchange between pounds and euros. However, the saving is small for countries with advanced banking systems and is likely to be approximately offset by the costs of changeover to euros.
- The core of the argument for entering the euro is the elimination of exchange rate risk against the euro. But the euro is a regional currency which has fluctuated considerably against the dollar: there is no necessary gain in exchange rate risk from euro membership.
- In any case, a well-managed economy should have little problem with exchange rate risk, which should be readily diversifiable in financial markets.
- Transparency of price comparisons is another claimed advantage of euro membership. But it is relevant only for border towns, of which Britain has none.
- A single currency implies a single interest rate, set for the needs of the whole euro zone. Under optimal currency conditions, variability of UK output, employment and prices

in response to shocks need not increase. But both observation and detailed modelling suggest such variability would be much greater than with a separate currency.

- Harmonisation is 'part of the centralising EMU agenda'. Harmonisation of social support and regulation, and tax rates well above those now prevailing in the UK, would be very damaging for the UK economy.
- Germany, France and Italy all have serious projected state pension deficits – possibly equivalent to as much as onethird of UK GDP. The more integrated EMU becomes, the greater the chance that the costs of meeting these 'potentially explosive state financial liabilities' might fall on the British taxpayer.
- The political aims of the EMU project are to 'centralise power in a political federal union'. If this approach were replaced by a free market agenda, the costs of euro membership would be much reduced.
- But it would be 'strongly against British interests to join' EMU 'as it is constituted and planned'.

# TABLES AND FIGURES

Figure 1	Euro per US dollar	26
Figure 2	UK trade-weighted exchange rate & euro–dollar	
	exchange rate	28
Figure A1	Floating and EMU compared (basic case)	62
Table 1	The effects on UK output and unemployment of	
	EU-style social measures	51
Table A1	The welfare losses (political cost) produced by EMU	
	compared with floating	63

Should Britain Join the Euro?

### 1 INTRODUCTION<sup>1</sup>

During the 1980s the issue of Britain's membership of the European Monetary System's Exchange Rate Mechanism was a constant source of political controversy, ultimately playing a part in the schism between Margaret Thatcher and her Chancellor, Nigel Lawson, and also in the final drama of her resignation as a serving Prime Minister. As is well known, Britain entered the ERM in 1990, only to exit from it in 1992. During the 1990s the equivalent monetary issue concerning European exchange rate arrangements has been that of joining the euro. After the ERM's travails in the early 1990s the leaders of Continental European countries, notably Chancellor Kohl of Germany and President Mitterrand of France, decided to embark on monetary union. In the Maastricht Treaty Britain negotiated an opt-out from this. In January 1999 the euro was launched in virtual form; and in January 2002 the euro materialised as notes and coins. The debate in Britain has been focused by the knowledge that joining the euro is in large measure irreversible, unlike joining the ERM.

It is of course not impossible to leave the euro; anything in politics is possible. But joining does put enormous barriers in the way of leaving: for example, there is no provision in the Rome Treaty (as subsequently amended by Maastricht and other

<sup>1</sup> I am grateful to two anonymous referees for most useful comments.

treaties) for doing so and therefore it would involve a violation of the Treaty with unpredictable ramifications. The question of joining has therefore been considered of such importance, both practical and constitutional, that it has forced politicians to offer the people a referendum. The present government has stated that if and when it decides that joining is something it would recommend to the country, it will then hold a binding referendum on entry. It has also let it be known that its decisions would be highly dependent on the economics of joining; it has admitted that there are political and constitutional considerations but has suggested that these are secondary. The Chancellor of the Exchequer drew up the Five Economic Tests for entry with the full authority of the government; it was said that they must be met 'clearly and unambiguously'.

In brief (for a full list see Bush 2001: 27), the first test concerns whether the UK has achieved 'convergence' with the rest of the EU; the second whether there is sufficient economic flexibility in the UK and the EU to avoid problems; the third the effects on inward investment; the fourth those on the City of London. In a fit of common sense, the Chancellor and his economic advisers listed as the 'fifth test' for Britain's entry into the euro the general economic effects of monetary union on the British economy, thus in effect sweeping all the other tests up into this one. This offers a welcome opportunity to consider the overall economic calculus of entry.

Before beginning, however, politics should be mentioned. The difficulty of placing economics at the centre of the decision has been a source of continuous tension in the debate, within all the parties. The problem is that the driving force of monetary union on the Continent has always been political; it has been seen by most of its protagonists, certainly Chancellor Kohl and President Mit-

terrand, as a measure that would propel participants into political union at a faster pace. Indeed, the economic problems monetary union would throw up were regarded by them as a useful extra propellant. This has meant that these Continental leaders have constantly applied pressure on the UK to join for the same political reasons – they want us to join the club they have in mind, in order to benefit from our assistance (our strengths) and to limit our ability to compete with it and even undermine it by doing things differently. But within the UK there are many, including a large majority of the public, who do not share this Continental vision of ultimate political union; they want Britain to be an independent nation in a Europe of independent but cooperating nations. As a result those UK politicians who want Britain to join the euro have couched the case in economic terms, to avoid alienating this majority opinion; they have generally argued that it will not lead to political union and that those Continental politicians wanting such a union are in retreat. Those UK politicians who oppose UK entry have felt no such necessity to downplay the political risks of submergence in a European superstate. As with most serious political arguments, there is little chance that either side will be convinced by evidence or reasoned debate to change its position. Values are at stake; and it is also difficult to determine just how the European Union itself will evolve - whether into a tight federal union or a large and loose cooperative group of independent nations.

It is against this background that we consider the economic costs and benefits. Fortunately, economics has developed fairly robust means of testing arguments and evidence. There is a body of economic theory within which the logic of arguments can be evaluated. Furthermore we have increasingly good access to data and econometric tools, so that evidence can be brought to bear. This means that, much as some participants in the debate would like the economics to be vague and impressionistic so that political preferences could easily be dressed up as economic arguments, modern economics does not easily oblige.

My aim in this short paper is to set out in as clear a way as I can what the economic arguments on both sides are; and then to discuss what theory and evidence we can bring to bear on them so as to evaluate the gains and losses to the economy were the UK to join. Economics is a quantitative subject; therefore what is true for the UK may not be true for other countries. We will see that there are both gains and losses. For the UK the calculation will depend on its particular characteristics. For other countries with other characteristics the calculation may well therefore be different. But, needless to say, this paper is about the UK only.

## 2 THE BENEFITS OF EMU<sup>1</sup>

The economic benefits put forward for EMU consist of three main elements: the reduction in transactions costs of changing currency; the reduction of exchange risk leading to greater trade and foreign investment with the rest of Europe, and to a lower risk premium embodied in the cost of raising capital; and increased transparency in price comparison.

#### **Transactions costs**

EMU would mean that currency exchange between pounds and euros would no longer occur; this would save resources (reflected in the margins of currency dealers in a competitive market). The EU Commission undertook a study (European Commission, 1990) of the savings and found that on average across the EMU members there would be savings in dealers' margins of 0.4 per cent of GDP. However, for countries with advanced banking systems, such as the UK, it found the saving to be much smaller, at around 0.1 per cent of GDP. The reason was that the vast proportion of currency exchanges between pounds and euros take place via the banking system (as, for example, in inter-firm trade payments

<sup>1</sup> Britain already participates in the first and second stages of EMU. The issue addressed here is participation in the third (single currency) stage.

or credit card payments); these transactions, whatever margins may be marked up on them, are costless in resources since in a computerised banking transaction conversion of a payment into another currency requires the computer merely to perform one extra operation, at essentially zero marginal cost. So the cost only arises when people change hand-to-hand currency, basically small tourist transactions.

In terms of UK GDP 0.1 per cent represents about £1 billion per year – a fairly small sum, though of course it is a gain that in principle continues indefinitely, at a level depending on the share of such currency exchanges in GDP. It seems likely, in fact, that these exchanges will steadily diminish in importance as credit card and other banking payment mechanisms penetrate ever deeper into tourist practice. A reasonable practical assumption might be that it remains about constant in absolute terms at £1 billion in today's prices.

The transactions cost argument does not end there. In order to join EMU there must be a large one-off transactions cost in the form of changing the pound into euros – including changing over the vending machines, the accounting systems, and the banks' high-street machines. There has been a range of estimates of this, which was usefully reviewed recently by the House of Commons Trade and Industry Committee (House of Commons, 2000), together with work of their own. They concluded that a reasonable central estimate of the changeover cost was £30 billion.

To reach an overall assessment of the net transactions cost one must either turn this last one-off cost into an annual charge or convert the ongoing gain above into a 'present value equivalent'. This is easily done. If we take the real rate of interest as around 4 per cent, then the annualised charge on £30 billion is £1.2 billion, slightly more than the £1 billion annual gain. Or equivalently the present value of £1 billion is £25 billion (£1 billion/0.04), rather less than the one-off cost. By playing with the real rate assumed one can push the comparison either way; and in any case both sets of estimates must be regarded as of doubtful accuracy. In other words, the transactions cost argument for going in turns out to be on balance of little weight.

# Exchange risk, trade, foreign investment and the cost of capital

The core of the argument for going into EMU is the elimination of exchange risk against the euro. It is argued (for example, in Britain in Europe, 2000) that this elimination is like the removal of a trade barrier and will promote much more trade with Europe, will increase foreign investment in the UK, and will reduce the cost of capital by merging the risky and limited sterling capital market with the bigger and less risky euro capital market.

Let us examine this argument in two stages. First, let us assume that exchange risk is an important influence on trade, foreign investment and the cost of capital. Second, we will consider this assumption critically.

So, assuming exchange risk is a big factor, let us consider whether joining the euro will actually reduce it or not, and if so by how much. Here we immediately trip over the key point that to join the euro is not to join a world currency but a regional one. A particular issue is that Britain trades very heavily with the dollar area. Let us not get tied up in the vexed question of the exact shares of our trade with Europe and with the USA, and what sorts of trade should be counted (in goods, in goods and services, or in all cross-



border transactions including foreign investment and earnings on them?). The point is that if we regard exchange risk as a sort of tax on transactions involving exchanging currency, then it is plain that the broadest definition should be used for the 'trade' affected by this tax. Most of the world outside Europe either uses the dollar or is tied to it in some formal or informal way. We might then say, in a rough and ready way, that we trade and invest half with the euro area and half with the dollar area. (This, by the way, is not the same issue as the currency in which trade is denominated or invoiced, where the dollar heavily preponderates; invoicing is about how the risk is shared between buyers and sellers, not about the total risk involved.)

It so happens that the euro/dollar exchange rate has been highly variable for a very long time – see Figure 1, which shows the DM/dollar rate up to January 1999 and thereafter links on the euro–dollar rate (this linkage assumes that the DM would have been the dominating element in the behaviour of the euro, had it existed before). Nor have the sources of that variability been removed. They include the very different philosophies of regulation ('Rhenish' versus 'Anglo-Saxon' capitalism) which lead to swings in market sentiment about likely future success; differences in business cycle timing which cause swings in interest rates; and differences in adoption of new technologies. It is true that differences in inflation are now small, but this has been the case for at least a decade and a half and has not stopped very large swings in the exchange rate due to these other reasons which affect the 'real exchange rate' (that is, the exchange rate adjusted for relative inflation.)

The problem then for the UK is that if we join the euro we thereby increase our exchange risk against the dollar as the euro swings around against it. If we remain outside, the pound can, as these swings occur, 'go between' the two, rather like someone sitting on the middle of a seesaw. The chart of our own effective (or average) exchange rate – Figure 2 – juxtaposed against the euro/dollar exchange rate shows clearly that we have been able to enjoy less volatility in our overall exchange rate by tying to neither of these two big regional currencies.

We have some concrete experience of experimenting with such tying. When we first shadowed and then tied to the DM, from 1988 to 1992, we experienced substantial average exchange rate volatility as German reunification led to a large appreciation of the DM against the dollar. That too can be seen clearly in Figure 2. After we left the ERM in 1992 the DM first continued to appreciate against the dollar and then from 1995 began to plunge; from January 1999



Figure 2 UK trade-weighted exchange rate

its euro successor has plunged further. The pound has fluctuated less in its average value.

So what we find is that there is no necessary gain in exchange risk reduction in joining the euro, and that it is even possible that our overall exchange risk would rise. This message is confirmed by stochastic simulations on the Liverpool Model of the UK (reported in Minford, 2001), where we find that the variability of the real exchange rate actually rises slightly under EMU compared with floating. The standard deviation of the UK real exchange rate is just under 11 per cent under floating and just over 11 per cent under EMU given the standard assumptions we make; under the whole variety of other assumptions that we investigate, this relationship

between the two hardly changes, average variability under EMU always being a little bit higher than that under floating. This, perhaps rather surprising, finding essentially comes from the very large shocks injected by the variations in the euro's own real exchange rate (basically against the dollar area) into the UK's real exchange rate – in other words, exactly the factor we worry about above, that the euro/dollar rate is highly volatile.

From the viewpoint of shareholder welfare, we must also stress that the composition of currency risk is also a factor. A doubling of dollar risk for the elimination of euro risk would be welfarereducing, even though this would keep 'average risk' unchanged; the reason is the usual one in economics of 'diminishing marginal utility'. The gains I make as a euro trader get progressively smaller as the risk falls to zero, but the losses made by you as a dollar trader get progressively larger as your risk rises to a doubling. So add up all your losses and they dominate my overall gains from the changeover to the euro. In short, adopting the euro could actually diminish UK welfare as a result of exchange risk both in total and in composition.

Let us now turn to the second leg of the argument and ask just how important exchange risk is as a factor determining trade, foreign investment and the cost of capital – both in general and specifically for the UK. This concerns the extent to which modern financial markets can diversify this risk away; the more they can, the cheaper, for example, the 'hedging' deal they can offer a trader (that is, a trader who is exposed to foreign exchange risk can insure it by covering his exposed position through buying or selling foreign currency for future delivery from a financier, usually a bank, which then carries the risk). Without going into the rather involved theory, the risk can be diversified away to the extent that a currency gyrates independently of general trends or fluctuations – by pooling a lot of independent risks in a large portfolio a bank can largely eliminate these sources of risk at the portfolio level. On top of this, big enough financial intermediaries can ignore moderate amounts of risk, acting as a 'risk-neutral' insurer.

In trade the main risk is that the exchange rate will change after the deal has been concluded - this will usually be over the short term, say months or a year. In foreign investment the risk is that the plant in the host country will experience a rise in costs of production that is not matched by a fall in the exchange rate - that is, the country's real exchange rate will rise, so reducing real profitability; there is then the further risk that its real exchange rate will fall relative to the investor country's, so causing assets to be worth less on repatriation. In raising capital the capital provider faces the risk that the loan or share will be devalued by an exchange rate fall. In each case the risk involving the exchange rate is slightly different but in all cases the question is the same: can financial markets diversify away this risk to a level sufficient to ignore? The broad answer will be that if a country's exchange rate or real exchange rate largely varies with domestic factors that are idiosyncratic, then its exchange risk will be highly diversifiable. To the extent to which a country is highly vulnerable to world or general turbulence it will not. One can see therefore that a country that is well run, with a sound monetary policy and a flexible supply side, should be able to withstand general turbulence; it will have its own upsets, of course (an outbreak of foot-and-mouth disease, say), but they can be diversified against by the international financial community by investing in foreign assets with which these domestic shocks are uncorrelated.

We may then turn to the question of whether exchange risk

will affect a country's domestic real interest rate. The theory tells us that, through the international movement of funds to take advantage of arbitrage and speculative opportunities, domestic real interest rates will be equal to the 'world' real interest rate (which we can approximate by that of the dollar, the world's dominant currency) plus a risk premium reflecting the non-diversifiable volatility of the exchange rate. The discussion in the last paragraph immediately tells us that this risk premium will be small for a reasonably well-managed economy.

So the theory suggests that a well-managed country should not have much of a problem with exchange risk in general. Its cost of capital will be at world market rates; its foreign investors will be calm about possible future movements in the real exchange rate; and its traders will have a wide scope for hedging at modest cost. On the other hand a badly managed country vulnerable to crises triggered by world recession – for example, because of poor monetary policy and inflexible labour markets – could well find exchange risk a big problem; such indeed seems to have been the position of Italy before its accession to the euro was agreed, and this accounts for the eagerness with which Italy pursued a campaign to join EMU in the face of German reluctance.

We may at this point address the argument (made much of in Britain in Europe, 2000) that a country's exchange rate is vulnerable to 'bubbles' – that is, irrational movements based on pure sentiment rather than fundamentals. The best-managed country can have its exchange rate 'attacked by speculators' in such a bubble and this, it is argued, will generally be triggered by world events in a contagious way so that the possibility of such bubbles cannot easily be diversified against. By joining the euro the potential for such bubbles is eliminated, it is further argued. However, the evidence for such bubbles is poor, and the theory surrounding them is controversial (in a forthcoming book, *Advanced Macroeconomics – A Primer*, David Peel and I review the theory carefully and suggest that in the end it relies on systematic irrationality among market participants). We can furthermore account for what are claimed to be bubbles in terms of natural market concerns about future policies. A good case in point is the euro's fall; many of those who support bubbles also believe that the euro's fall is a bubble. Yet that fall can easily be explained by the poor supply-side policies being pursued in the euro area, the resulting high unemployment, and the fears in the market that this could destabilise the conduct of euro policy, and even endanger the existence of the euro.

If we look at the data (as I do in Minford, 2001), we find that the volatility in the pound's risk premium (the supposed source of the bubble) is not an important factor in determining the variability of the economy under floating. When it is tripled, the comparison with EMU changes only modestly: the economy remains far more variable under EMU than under floating. So, even if some of the volatility of the UK's risk premium were due to bubbles, the evidence reveals it as of no practical importance.

There are therefore good theoretical reasons for doubting the importance of exchange risk as a factor affecting the UK; such risk as there is should be readily diversifiable in financial markets, resulting in little insurance cost and so having little impact on the real economy. The empirical studies available tend to support this judgement. A wide range of studies surveyed and in many cases commissioned by the IMF found little, if any, impact of exchange rate volatility on trade (a typical example is Bailey *et al.*, 1987). In a recent theoretical study of this issue (Bacchetta and van

Winkoop, 2000), the authors note that 'the substantial empirical literature examining the link between exchange-rate uncertainty and trade has not found a consistent relationship', adding that 'in papers that find a negative relationship, it is generally weak'; the theoretical general equilibrium benchmark model they consider implies no relationship at all between trade and the exchange rate regime.

The factors moving foreign investment have also been widely studied; and foreign exchange risk is generally found to be a minor consideration (recent evidence bearing on the UK is examined, for example, in Leach, 2001). As for the cost of capital, an exchange risk premium is found for countries that have poor domestic policies; the UK has in the past suffered from this problem – one has only to go back to the 1970s and the early 1980s battle for reforms to see this in the data. But in the last decade, since the exit from the ERM has been digested and a new monetary consensus against inflation forged, we have seen the emergence of a minimal risk premium over world capital costs. For example, UK gilts now sell on yields similar to both German bunds and US Treasuries.

We should mention two studies that appear to point the opposite way, both of them cited as important evidence in Britain in Europe, 2000. The first, by Professor Andrew Rose of Berkeley (Rose, 1999), finds a statistical relationship between the size of bilateral trade of two countries and whether they are in a monetary union; his coefficient implies that trade is tripled by monetary union. However, economists have been highly sceptical of this claim (see Rose, 1999; also Persson, 2001, and Nitsch, 2001) on the grounds that the coefficient comes from the experience of many small dependent economies in monetary unions with large, usually 'mother', countries; there

is really no way of distinguishing the effect of close ties of dependency on close trade patterns from that of monetary union itself. Monetary union is a sign of an extraordinary closeness of relations in general, from which trade closeness is bound to flow Rose claims he has 'controlled' for such closeness factors by including proxies for these, such as 'colonial dependency'. This unfortunately does not resolve the problem; suppose there was a colony that broke its ties with the mother country and as part of that terminated its monetary union. The only distinction between it and another colony that did not would be its absence of monetary union. So monetary union would in effect be the indicator of closeness of general ties. In effect this problem (known as 'selection bias') is insuperable without the ability somehow to choose the cases where monetary union did and did not take place randomly, quite separately from the cases where political ties occurred or broke down. If these things occur together, because of some third unobserved cause, then there is no means of distinguishing their effect.

The second study is by John McCallum of the Royal Bank of Canada (McCallum, 1995). It concerns Canada's trade with the US. He shows that in spite of its effectively free market with the USA, Canada trades much less with the USA than it does within its own borders, even in contiguous states. Britain in Europe, 2000, claims this as evidence that, were Canada to have a monetary union with the USA, trade would be much higher. Yet the McCallum paper claims nothing of the sort, merely that 'the existence of the border' reduces trade; indeed, the paper makes no mention of monetary union. Canada, being a different country, has a myriad of different institutions that between them change incentives to trade, these being summarised in 'the border'. One of them plainly is a different currency, but it is only one of many. As with Rose's study, it is impossible to divorce the closeness of ties evidenced by monetary union from the effects of these ties themselves; were Canada to be in a monetary union with the US it would no doubt be because there was a high degree of mutual trust and a willingness to remove institutional differences. Their removal would lead to a Canadian province on one side of the US border being essentially like a US state on the other side – regulatory arrangements, legal procedures, etc., would be the same, there would be no customs posts or different forms to fill in, and so on. 'The border' would have gone – not just separate currencies.

Unfortunately, to determine the separate effect of monetary union requires that monetary union be something that can be varied quite independently of general closeness, as argued above; and the data do not provide this experiment. These two studies, in spite of their sophisticated econometrics, do not get around this problem in the case of monetary union. We can look at the evidence of the effects on trade of exchange rate volatility; there at least one can find separate movement of the volatility measure divorced from the movement of other factors. As we have seen, it does not reveal much, if any, effect.

There are a few cases where countries have maintained normal relations in other respects but have decided to make or break monetary unions. Flandreau, 2001, examined the cases of the Latin Monetary Union of 1865 (between Belgium, France, Italy and Switzerland) and the Scandinavian Monetary Union of 1873 (between Sweden, Denmark and Norway) and found no evidence of trade effects of monetary union. Aristotelous, 2001, found none on US–UK trade from movements on and off the Gold Standard and the break-up of Bretton Woods. Most relevantly for the UK, Thom and Walsh, 2002, found no trade effects from Ireland's termination of monetary union with the UK in 1979. What all these studies confirm is that trade patterns are determined by comparative advantage, not by monetary factors, not even monetary union. If monetary risk is like a trade barrier, then it is – as we might have suspected from the theory of diversifiability – an exiguously small one.

In conclusion, this, the major argument adduced for entry, does not appear to be of much quantitative significance. It might even go the wrong way. One can agree that having a common money around the world would bring some gains of market integration – even if modest – while disagreeing that adopting a regional currency like the euro will bring even modest gains.

#### Transparency of price comparison

Prices, it is said, will be easier to compare in a foreign currency; hence the consumer will gain from greater competition bringing enhanced price similarity (adjusted for quality differences). For countries with populated land borders such as Belgium or the Netherlands the argument has some force, as border people are constantly involved in price comparisons that could be costly in time. However, the UK has no land borders with the euro zone (other than the mainly rural one between Northern Ireland and Eire). So the argument in our case can only be of interest for substantial traded goods or services: we are hardly going to be comparing the price of Coca-Colas and haircuts (unlike the residents of Maastricht, say). The main example given is motor cars, where it is argued that UK car prices are higher than on the Continent because we have a different currency.
It is quite important to distinguish the argument from those of transactions costs or exchange risk already considered. It lies in identifying a special transactions cost – namely that of comparing prices which, with different currencies, involves a calculator, say, or some extra mental arithmetic. So in the case of cars it is being claimed that the extra cost of getting out a calculator to compare, say, Belgian prices of Fords with those in Birmingham is an important element keeping up prices in Birmingham. A moment's reflection reveals the absurdity of this claim; assume that there were competitive dealers offering to get you a Belgian car in place of a Birmingham one; would they not first quote you the sterlingequivalent price or, if not, would you not find it a trivial chore to get out your calculator when making such a big purchase?

In fact there have been a number of investigations (mainly by the Competition Commission and its predecessor body, the Monopolies and Mergers Commission) into why car prices are different in the UK as compared to on the Continent. The major reason found (MMC, 1992) has been the exclusive-dealer system, which permits car companies to prevent cross-trading; another has been different regulatory systems (including driving on the left/right); another has been the tax treatment of company cars and the resulting vigour of the second-hand market. Even the existence of the Internet, which could lower the costs of trading, has not apparently much affected the matter; Internet traders have just as much difficulty getting around the car companies.

One is led to conclude that, apart from border towns, where obviously comparing small items would be costly in different currencies, this transparency argument is of little interest. As border towns are not relevant to the UK, that ends the matter from the UK viewpoint.

## 3 THE COSTS OF EMU FOR THE UK

There are three main economic costs that have been identified in joining the EMU: the difficulty of dealing with shocks without the use of independent interest rate and exchange rate movements; the effects of 'harmonisation' initiatives associated with EMU; and the concern that we could be involved in the bailing out of Continental countries with financial problems particularly associated with state pension deficits.

Our focus here is on these economic arguments. But we should point out in passing that the nature of the political union implicit in the monetary union plans is relevant to the last two economic arguments. Both harmonisation and bailout concerns are directly related to the strength of the desire for political union. The stronger the push for political union the more of a constituency there is for harmonisation as well as for mutual cross-country support. Britain in Europe, 2000, argues that harmonisation is a strictly separate matter from EMU and that bail-out is explicitly ruled out by the Maastricht Treaty. This, however, fails to recognise the way in which EU institutions have been deliberately used to advance the cause of political union – for example, the expectation of the European Court that its judgments should advance unification; the use of the Single Market Act with its qualified majority voting to force the limitation of working hours on the UK as a health and safety

measure; and the series of summits organised by the Commission under successive country presidencies to further union in foreign and defence policy. EMU creates a further set of institutions through which arrangements can be made to increase unification between EMU members; linkages can be set up that get around notional 'separateness' or the vetoing of bail-out – 'support', after all, can be 'voluntary' or 'common taxes' can be 'redistributed'. Joining EMU means that the UK is subject to its extra set of arrangements. It is like going on to be caught in a double spider's web when at first you are lightly entangled in a single one from which you can still extricate yourself.

In effect EMU is a process that is designed to produce a high degree of economic and political integration. In joining it, a country is unable to avoid signing up to that process; staying outside, it can remain part of the existing Treaty which deals with trade, movements of productive factors and the single market. Clearly, an EMU that was a system designed solely to share a common money, with members remaining independent countries, cooperating merely in the enforcement of good competitive norms and the freest possible trade, would be a different proposition, and the arguments that follow would need important modification. Indeed, were the EU and its EMU branch to be intended as a sort of early twenty-first-century Gold Standard world writ large, with free trade, untrammelled labour mobility, competition and flexible labour markets, it would offer some definite attractions to be put in the balance (and clearly affecting the balance of arguments on the five tests). However, it is plain to see that this is not the EMU on offer. The EMU we are assessing here is the one that is on offer.

### Shocks without an independent currency

A single currency implies a single interest rate unless there are such barriers to the movement of money as exchange controls or differential taxes on interest rates – all of which are of course explicitly forbidden under the Maastricht Treaty, with no conceivable loophole.

One can understand this point by considering whether York and Manchester could have different deposit rates or lending rates. If, for example, York paid higher deposit rates and charged higher loan rates, then all the deposits would flow to York and all the borrowing would flow to Manchester. Both sets of banks would go bankrupt in a matter of weeks; York with no lending business, Manchester with no deposits. So of course they must push their rates into line to stop these ('arbitrage') flows of business.

This could be prevented by exchange controls stopping people moving their money or their loan business. Or else York could have a separate exchange rate. Plainly, by joining the UK monetary union they give up their separate exchange rate and, having no powers to levy controls, they therefore share an interest rate. This is what happens under EMU between London and Frankfurt. It is worth dwelling on this since some people ask why there cannot be different interest rates for different regions or industries within a union; why all the fuss? they ask. The answer is there could be but only with regional exchange controls, which would be very bad for any economy, besides being unlawful.

At the heart of the case against joining EMU is the consequence of abandoning a separate interest rate for the UK, which comes with a separate exchange rate or currency. In effect the exchange rate, by moving, allows one country's interest rate to be different from another's. It is sometimes said that 'in a globalised world' a country cannot really have an independent monetary policy – that is, a different interest rate that it chooses. This is simply wrong. The way monetary policy works is precisely that it engineers an interest rate to suit its own conditions and objectives and that the exchange rate moves ('floats') to prevent money flowing in or out of the rest of the world to frustrate that chosen interest rate. It does so because under floating exchange rates, as normally defined, the country's central bank does not intervene in the foreign exchange market; if it were to do so, it would compromise its ability to set its own interest rates because by exchanging its own money for foreign money it would alter its domestic money market conditions and so its interest rates.

For example, suppose Japan lowers interest rates (as it has done to virtually zero); holders of yen deposits then have an incentive to move their money to London or New York, say, to benefit from the higher interest rates they can obtain there. But as they do so they find that they cannot go to the Bank of Japan, the central bank, and acquire dollars or pounds because the BOJ will not want to take in the yen in exchange as that would reduce the yen money supply and, given the shortage of money, raise interest rates back up again. So those who want to move their money have to find someone in the private market to buy the dollars or pounds from. As all these extra yen are offered on the market for pounds and dollars, they drive down the yen; as people holding dollars or pounds do not want to sell them, the yen goes down until the market is in equilibrium. This equilibrium will happen when the yen is so low that it is expected to go up again; then the expected capital gain on a rising yen will just offset the much lower interest rate on yen deposits. Of course, when that happens those Japanese who wanted to move their money out will no longer want to do

so; in effect they will happily keep their money on deposit at the zero interest rate. In short the exchange rate moves to 'insulate' the home interest rate chosen from whatever interest rates prevail abroad; movements of money do not frustrate the chosen interest rate because the exchange rate moves enough to stop the money from actually moving.

What this means is that, with a separate currency which freely floats as required by differing interest rates or other factors that influence people's desire to put money in different countries, the Bank of England has the power to alter interest rates to suit the UK. The exchange rate will then move as necessary to permit this. Joining EMU means that the UK interest rate is set by the European Central Bank in Frankfurt to suit the needs of the whole euro zone, which may of course be very different from the UK's. For example, as we found when in the Exchange Rate Mechanism (which imposed fixed exchange rates though stopped short of EMU), if the UK is in recession and the rest of the euro zone is not, then its recession may last longer and deepen because interest rates cannot be lowered. With repeated differential shocks this would mean that the UK would suffer greater variability of unemployment, output and prices than it would with freedom to set its own interest rates.

It is theoretically possible that having the same interest rate as the rest of the euro zone would not cause this higher UK variability – or at least not much. These conditions are known as the 'optimal currency area' conditions:

Shocks could be very similar in effect – 'symmetric'. This might be because industries are similar; because the economy has a similar structure of financial and other arrangements so that it responds in the same way to similar shocks; or because it has a similar trade pattern and, even better, trades very largely with other euro-zone countries.

- 2 There are powerful fiscal compensation mechanisms, as happens in most countries a region hit by a shock benefits from paying less taxes, gets more benefit payments, and may receive special regional assistance.
- 3 Labour moves freely so that a region doing well sucks in workers unemployed in regions doing badly; this happens noticeably in the USA.
- 4 Wages are highly flexible so that a region hit by a nasty shock causing unemployment lowers its wages and prices, while other regions raise theirs; this then quickly sets in train counteracting creation of employment in the former and contraction of it in the latter.

These conditions are effectively what the Chancellor's first and second tests are concerned with. Casual, as well as detailed, observation reveals that conditions 1–4 are not met in the euro zone (for an exhaustive treatment, see Bush, 2001).

Regarding condition 1, recent evidence of business cycle behaviour suggests that the UK cycle for the last two decades has been far closer to the US cycle than to the European. The UK's response to interest rate movements is also differentially responsive owing to the preponderance of variable-rate mortgages.

Regarding condition 2, plainly the EU has essentially no budget for such purposes.

Regarding condition 3, language, differential national regulations and housing market rigidities make mobility difficult except for certain types of low-skilled worker (such as hotel and catering staff). As for condition 4, in the UK there is nowadays a reasonable degree of wage flexibility as a result of the substantial liberalising reforms of the last two decades. But there is little in the rest of the euro zone, where strong unions and heavy regulations on working conditions make it difficult; the main hope would be that unions are willing in time to negotiate wage moderation, which in certain circumstances could be a weak substitute for flexibility. However, this may take a long time and substantial unemployment to achieve, so it is unlikely to prevent substantial unemployment variability.

Hence the evidence is in a general way suggestive that conditions 1–4 will not be of much help to the UK. However, counterclaims are made, and in the end it is an empirical matter, to be assessed in the light of evidence on the UK's likely behaviour in the face of likely shocks. It is this issue that I address in Minford, 2001. The method (known as 'stochastic simulation') is described in detail there. In short it is to pepper a well-tried model of the UK with a large number of typical shocks drawn from past experience; and then to see what the variability of the economy is under the two alternative monetary regimes – EMU versus policy as now set by the Bank of England under floating exchange rates.

We can summarise our findings as follows (the Appendix contains some details). Joining EMU would increase the variability of the UK economy – the 'boom and bust' factor – by about 75 per cent. This is also a widely used measure of the cost involved, as experienced by politicians facing popular pressures. This increased cost is largely insensitive to the sort of ameliorative changes that euro advocates have put forward. Greater UK labour market flexibility helps a bit; so does diminished UK responsiveness to interest rates. But the extent is small; the big difference remains. The reason

is that the UK is both unable to respond to shocks optimally with its own interest rate and also is destabilised by euro shocks (especially against the dollar), given that we trade so heavily with the rest of the world. This is the case even though we freely allow fiscal stabilisers full play, not merely the automatic ones but also an extra discretionary public spending response to the cycle. Were unemployment to reach the double-digit rates we saw in the early 1980s and early 1990s the difference in variability would be even larger, and it would be more serious too, as the absolute variation in unemployment would rise more than proportionately with this higher baseline unemployment. Euro advocates claim that outside EMU the pound would suffer enhanced volatility; our estimates allow for the volatility in the pound's risk premium experienced in the past decade, but we checked what would happen to the comparison if we allowed for its tripling. Again, the difference is reduced, but not much, basically because the economy's built-in monetary shock absorbers work pretty well. That remains the key point; running a modern economy with popular consent requires efficient shock absorbers and joining EMU not merely removes them but provides an additional source of shocks from the euro itself.

An earlier study by Barrell and Dury, 2000, using the National Institute's multi-country model, found that the costs would be less than ours. If we translate their findings into the terms of our boom-and-bust index, their index would be 42 per cent higher under the euro than under floating (against our 75 per cent). They find that, under the euro, UK output (and so by implication unemployment) would be 51 per cent more volatile as measured by its variance against our 27 per cent; this greater effect is probably the result of their model structure being more Keynesian (with less price/wage flexibility). However, they find rather strangely

that inflation volatility would actually fall 44 per cent under the euro - our finding was that it would rise by a massive 880 per cent, essentially because the euro's volatility against the dollar would move traded-goods prices around sharply, rather as has happened recently in Ireland. On inspection we can account for this different finding in terms of three major differences in the methods they use. First, they assume that the risk premium on sterling is given by the 'forecasting error' between the forward rate and the exchange rate outturn. However, the two things are different; the risk premium is an element included in the forward rate as the price of risk, whereas the forecast error is an element occurring later after the price has been quoted. Plainly, the price of risk reflects the anticipation of possible future errors on average (typically their variance); it cannot be assumed to be equal to any and every actual future error. To assume it in a stochastic simulation exercise like this one will in practice make the assumed risk premium excessively volatile by a large margin.

Second, they assume that UK monetary policy is set according to somewhat arbitrary rules – they impose a rigid postulated 'inflation target' operating rule. We assume by contrast that UK interest rates are set according to the rule under which the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) does the best possible job it can within the freedom given it by floating exchange rates; this involves interest rates reacting to inflation with a weight of 1.5 against a weight on output of 0.5 – rather similar to what we observe the MPC do in practice. Given that the MPC has done a good job of stabilising both inflation and output in an essentially pragmatic way, and can presumably learn to adjust to changes both in circumstances and the UK's economic behaviour, the Barrell/Dury assumption puts the floating regime under an unfair handicap. Third, the period from which they draw the shocks with which their model is peppered is 1991–7, during which the crucial euro–dollar exchange rate happens to have been more stable than in the fuller 1986–2000 period we use. One can understand this point more clearly by reference to Figure 1 above; there one can see that from 1986 to 1991 the dollar fell considerably against the euro; from 1991 to 1997 it moved up and down moderately, before then rising again in the latest period to 2000. Thus by omitting both the earlier and the later period the euro–dollar rate's instability is markedly understated. It is likely that were the Barrell/Dury study to be rerun on this basis they too would find that inflation volatility would increase under the euro quite substantially. If so, then their overall boom-and-bust index would be comparable to ours, thus joining a series of studies of models indicating that this cost would be substantial.

In a recent article Barrell (2002) has criticised my own study on a number of grounds. The first is that I drew shocks from the 1980s 'for a currency that nobody then assumed would exist'. However, we have to have a sample of shocks for a duration long enough to represent the range of experience the UK might face. The period 1991–7, chosen by Barrell and Dury, exemplifies the problems we saw above; yet even then the euro did not exist. Given the existence of active exchange rate coordination by France (as well as most other countries later forming the euro zone) with the DM during the 1980s, it seems reasonable to assume that, had the euro existed, it would have behaved something like the average of the euro currencies. As it happens its behaviour since 1997 has echoed the volatility of the late 1980s, as explained already; it would seem safer, given that we must factor in the euro's behaviour, to use a longer period rather than focus on an artificially less volatile, shorter period. Second, Barrell argues that I neglect the reaction of the ECB through its interest-rate setting to the euro's behaviour and in general to UK shocks that are correlated with euro-zone shocks. However, I allowed fully for any correlation between the euro interest rate and both the euro and all UK shocks; the drawings of shocks made for our stochastic simulation are done by the 'bootstrap method' in which the whole set of shocks for a quarter is drawn at once. This means that the correlations between the shocks in the data are fully preserved in the simulations. Hence we are allowing fully for the historical reaction of euro-zone interest rates to UK and euro shocks. Barrell asserts that this can be done better by simulating a multi-country model in which an assumption is made about the ECB's reaction function. But this would be to substitute assumptions for actual historical reactions.

On the particular point that UK inflation volatility would be greater under the euro, Barrell counters that the ECB would react to dampen it down (unlike in the case of Ireland). Would it do so more than by the average of euro-zone behaviour already captured in the historical correlations? One must doubt it given that the UK would be one country among thirteen, with a GDP weight of about a fifth.

Interestingly, when all is said and done Barrell and Dury find a much greater increase of UK output volatility on going into EMU than I do. It is over inflation that they differ; and there it is hard to resist the conclusion that they have made a variety of special assumptions that have the effect of greatly understating the inflationary problems the UK would experience, along the lines that Ireland has so dramatically found.

### Harmonisation

As we saw above, what is needed to make EMU work better - that is, to avoid undue instability in the economy as a result of losing control of monetary policy – is greater wage flexibility, in the absence of the large federal budgets and the labour mobility that the EU does not have. However, there is little sign of the emergence of this flexibility. Instead, it is being suggested on the Continent that what is needed is 'harmonisation' of taxes and other institutions. The argument appears to be that this will reduce the extent of differences in response to shocks and even increase the similarity of shocks by somehow creating a similarity of industrial structure. The basis for such arguments is extremely tenuous; possibly responses to shocks could become marginally more similar but even this is not clear since the dissimilarities could have had a partially offsetting effect, and certainly there is no reason to suppose that harmonisation would create a similarity of structure. More seriously, what protagonists of harmonisation probably have in mind is the aim of building up central federal institutions that would ultimately have revenues and the power, like any state, to make transfers to and from regions with asymmetric shocks; harmonisation does not in itself provide any help for EMU but it is a stepping stone to state powers that would.

Given the preferences of the majority of states in the euro zone, this harmonisation would be around a rate of taxation, social support and regulation well above that currently prevailing in the UK. It is a matter of speculation what exact level of harmonisation would be aimed at, but we calculated the effects of different levels of labour market intervention within the Liverpool Model (details of which can be found in Minford, 2001), to illustrate the problem for the UK of finding itself pressured one way or another into

I. A minimum wage		
where wage is (a) 50 per o	cent of male median	(b) <sup>2</sup> /3 of average
Long-term effects on:		
Output ( per cent)	–1.5	-5.0
Unemployment		
(per cent of labour force)	+1.8	+5.0
(million)	+0.5	+1.4
II. Union power simulation		
	Union powe	r rises ———
a) to	mid-80s level	(b) to 1980 level
Long-term effects on:		
Output ( per cent)	-3.0	-5.8
	5.0	5.0
(per cent of Jabour force)	<b>1</b> 13	+13
(per cent of labour force)	+1.5	+1.5
(minori)	+0.4	+1.5
III Disa in the social cost bur	dan an amployars	
a) by 20 m	ar cont of ungoos (b	) by (0 man can't of war as
a) by 20 p	er cerit of wages (b	) by 60 per cent of wages
Long-term effects on:		
Output ( per cent)	-4.4	-11.0
Unemployment		
(per cent of labour force)	+3.0	+18.0
(million)	+0.9	+5.5
IV. Combination of minimum	wages, union powe	r rise, and higher social cost
burdens on employers (comb	pination of I–III. (a) a	ind (b))
	Least	Most
Long-term effects on:		
Output ( per cent)	-9.0	-20.0
Unemployment	2.0	20.0
(per cent of labour force)	+10.0	(extreme value)
(per cent of labour loice)	10.0	(extreme value)
	+3.0	(extreme value)

# Table 1 The effects on UK output and unemployment of EU-style social measures

Source: Minford, 1998.

adopting such levels.

It can be seen that these are large costs, even in the leastcost scenario with its cost at 9 per cent of GDP and 10 per cent on unemployment. The high-cost scenario is obviously hugely damaging, at 20 per cent of GDP and an unquantifiable rise in unemployment.

These are just illustrations, a sample of effects. Damage would similarly be done by the forced raising of tax rates – as yet less likely, but only in the short term.

Some of these changes are coming in to a certain extent as a result of EU pressures independent of EMU. However, harmonisation is part of the centralising EMU agenda; and the club within a club that meets to decide policy on EMU matters will increase the pressure to move this agenda forward for members of the euro zone. Joining EMU would put increased impetus behind the harmonisation agenda for the UK.

### Bail-out and the emerging state pension crisis

The three largest nations in the euro zone, Germany, France and Italy, have serious projected state pension deficits. In 1996 an OECD paper (Roseveare *et al.*, 1996) projected them as reaching respectively about 10, 8 and 11 per cent of GDP by 2030. Since then Germany and Italy have taken some steps to reduce their prospective deficits; France has taken none. The OECD work has not been updated but various factors have become worse since that study and they may have wiped out the contribution of these policy changes. Notably, unemployment is turning out worse and growth slower than expected. The politics of cutting pension benefits is speculative given that ageing populations will increasingly be dominated by older voters; yet the effects of raising taxation further would be yet lower growth and worse unemployment. Hence it must be a matter of concern to the UK that the cost of meeting potentially explosive state financial liabilities might somehow fall in part on the British taxpayer. The more integrated EMU becomes, the greater both the political pressures for concerted action and the economic fallout from letting a fellow EMU member state default partially on its debts. This fallout includes the risk of contamination of one's own debt status as well as indirect losses of trade, public procurement business and any other joint activities.

For just the same reason - fear of bail-out, in their case focused on Italy - German leaders insisted on the Stability Pact, which is intended to limit state deficits to 1 per cent of GDP other than in exceptional circumstances. The Pact creates difficulties for countries wishing to use fiscal policy to stabilise their economies; it even forces countries to override the automatic fiscal stabilisers that come about from the normal fall in tax revenues and rise in benefits as the economy goes into recession. This is because the 1 per cent is not adjusted for the business cycle (such was the German fear that countries would get around it). Discretionary fiscal policy - that is, policy that deliberately alters tax rates or spending programmes - is probably not an effective stabilising instrument, being both slow and potentially counter-productive (as current Japanese experience illustrates) since rising debt induces households to save more. But to override the automatic stabilisers (which are built into, for example, our simulations in the section above) could certainly worsen cyclical swings.

Yet, while it hobbles the fiscal stabilisers, it seems unlikely that the Pact would actually stop a serious bail-out problem. State pension liabilities are routinely treated as an off-budget item (that is, pensions are only counted when they are actually paid and the obligation to pay them is not considered as equivalent to a debt); the resulting liabilities can be allowed to run up, threatening prospective deficits which are ignored until too late. If a country had high unemployment, a recession and political problems, one can easily imagine a sympathetic attitude developing among EMU members to a permissive policy.

It is worth recalling that the prospective state pension deficits of the big three EMU members in 2030 quoted above are projected as equal to over one-third of the UK's GDP – that is, nearly as much as the existing 40 per cent tax share of GDP. The risk of even part of this winding up as a charge on the UK taxpayer is a serious concern in terms of entering EMU.

# CONCLUSIONS

We examined the alleged benefits of joining EMU and found that:

- 1 The reduction of transactions costs of currency exchange would be small and would be roughly offset by the one-off cost of currency conversion.
- <sup>2</sup> There would be some gain from eliminating exchange risk against the euro but this could well be largely, or even more than, offset by increased volatility against the dollar with around half our trade broadly defined with countries either on or closely linked to the dollar. We also found that in any case exchange risk does not appear to have an important effect on trade or foreign investment and, in the UK case, on the cost of capital.
- 3 There are potential benefits from increased price transparency in border areas but this is of no real relevance to the UK; for large traded items this transparency would amount to the trivial saving on the use of a calculator.

We then looked at the potential costs of the EMU project as it is currently planned, namely a centralising one with the aim of strengthening political union, and we found that:

- 1 The loss of independent monetary policy (interest-rate-setting powers) on joining EMU would substantially raise the economy's cyclical instability.
- 2 The harmonisation agenda, motivated by the centralising aim, could inflict serious damage on UK employment and output by reducing labour competitiveness.
- 3 There is a risk, in the emerging state pension crisis affecting the three major EMU members, that under a centralised EMU UK taxpayers could find themselves contributing to these countries' state pension deficits, which could by 2030 be equivalent to more than one-third of the UK's GDP.

We have considered the political aspects of EMU only in terms of their relevance to these economic issues (though clearly they are of the utmost importance in the wider public debate). This relevance lies in the political aims of the project, which are to centralise power in a political federal union, without abandoning the main social democratic tenets of the major states such as France and Germany which currently dominate the EMU membership. It is these aims which dictate the harmonisation agenda and these tenets which explain the slowness and unwillingness to cut pension entitlements as a way of curing pension deficits.

Plainly it would be welcome if these political aspects were replaced by a free-market approach within a treaty of cooperating nation-states; this would reduce the costs under 2 and 3 above and, if wage flexibility and labour mobility were promoted as part of that approach, it would also reduce the costs under 1 above. The increasing competitiveness of the euro zone under such a treaty could also lead to a stronger euro, more stable against the dollar, which would improve the assessment of the benefit under 2 above.

Yet we have to assess the EMU project as it is currently planned by the dominant states within the euro zone. That is how we have proceeded, in a spirit of realism and honesty. It would be nice to pretend that EMU was something else, which we would like better; but it is not, and it would be wrong for us to assess it as if it were. One can bear in mind the possibility that it could become a different project, but the likelihood of this is extremely small. The final conclusion must be that it would be strongly against British interests to join EMU as it is constituted and planned.

### APPENDIX

## A COMPARISON OF EMU WITH FLOATING FOR THE UK<sup>1</sup>

The basic result of our exercise is displayed in Figure A1, which shows the variance for four key variables - output around its potential or 'trend', inflation, unemployment, and real short-term interest rates. There are two diamond-shaped graphs; one shows the combination of these variances under floating, the other under EMU. The graph shows the logarithms (to base 10) of the variances; this means that an equal distance along two axes measures an equal proportional rise in the two variances, and as one moves along an axis each equal length is the same proportional rise (from the starting point of the length). For ease of comparison the floating ones are set equal to 0.1 so that the EMU diamond shows the EMU variances as a proportion of the corresponding floating ones (the scale being logarithmic, we can accommodate the wildly differing proportions involved on the same scale). What we see is that all the implied variances are considerably higher under EMU than under floating. The variance (the square of the standard deviation) is used, as is standard, in our measures of welfare cost. That of output around its trend is nearly a third higher; that of unemployment nearly a fifth higher; real interest rates a multiple of over four; and that of inflation under EMU is approximately tenfold that under floating. The EMU environment is one in which ECB

<sup>1</sup> Source: Minford, 2001.

nominal interest rates are moving a fair amount for euro-zonewide reasons, and yet because they are poorly addressed to UK shocks the UK economy experiences considerably worse output, employment and, above all, inflation swings.

How can such a big difference arise? First, let us be clear about the floating monetary rule we have used. It is one in which interest rates react in a standard way to the deviations of current output, inflation and also Mo from their targets. This gives a standard deviation of real interest rates of 2.6 per cent (p.a.), of inflation of 2.1 per cent (p.a.), and of output of 2.5 per cent around its trend; these values seem to match reasonably with what we would expect from the current environment under the MPC.

Second, consider the factors driving inflation under EMU. UK prices of traded goods and services would be set in world markets at euro prices. They would be impacted upon therefore by three forces: the movements in the euro exchange rate (principally against the dollar); competing euro-zone prices; and UK costs. UK non-traded prices would be driven by UK costs and to some degree the pressure from traded prices. This makes up a cocktail of shocks. The euro has been notoriously volatile against the dollar. UK costs have had a roller-coaster ride from the push and pull of Tory and Labour supply-side policies. Finally, euro inflation has had the usual ups and downs.

Meanwhile, under EMU, euro interest rates are reacting to their own euro agenda and are not targeted on UK inflation or output except as a small part of an overall euro average. Hence these interest rates act not as a reactive stabiliser but as an independent source of shocks to the UK economy. We should stress that, to the extent there has been any correlation of these interest rates with UK shocks over the past decade and a half, it is wholly picked up in our methods. But because this correlation is small, and inflation variance is raised under EMU by the shocks described in the last paragraph, the variance of the real short-run interest rate (the nominal interest rates minus expected future inflation) also rises sharply.

When we consider the nature of the EMU regime in this way, we should not really be too surprised at the greater variability it creates. We can perhaps see an example of this at work in recent EMU experience in two ways. First, there is the extraordinary case of Ireland, where under the impact of the boom induced by reducing interest rates to euro levels of 3 per cent or so, and of the sharp depreciation of the euro, inflation rose to a peak of nearly 7 per cent and is still running at 4-5 per cent. Such behaviour greatly exceeds the sort of normally higher inflation one would expect from a country with faster productivity growth in tradable goods than in non-tradables (the so-called Balassa-Samuelson effect). Given some similarities and close trading relations between the UK and Ireland, it is reasonable to expect that, had the UK also joined the euro on 1 January 1999, it too would have experienced these problems to at least some degree. Second, we can inspect the range of inflation in the euro zone in June 2001: from 1.3 per cent in France and 1.4 per cent in Germany to 3.0 per cent in Spain, 3.1 per cent in Denmark and 4.9 per cent in the Netherlands, much like Ireland. The range across countries is 4 per cent and has peaked thus far at 6 per cent. By contrast, in the past five years UK inflation (RPIX) has stayed comfortably within the range of 1 per cent either side of the Bank of England's 2.5 per cent target.

It is natural to ask what these differences in variability imply for 'welfare' or the degree of painfulness of the EMU option. The main approach that has been used to this has been to give 'weights'



Figure A1 Floating and EMU compared (basic case)

to the different variances that appear to cause political and popular concern – that is, those just discussed – and add them up into a measure of welfare cost (the inverse of welfare). To illustrate, let us arbitrarily give the above variances the weights 1 each for output and unemployment, and 0.1 each for inflation and real interest rates (it is usual to give such price variables a lower weight in such 'welfare functions' on the grounds that they affect people's living standards more indirectly, though clearly the choice is a matter of judgement, essentially political); plainly then we wind up with a big difference in welfare. EMU welfare on this measure is 57 per cent of that under floating – equivalently the EMU welfare cost is 1.75 times that of floating. We will use this approach in what follows and refer to it as the popular welfare cost of EMU.

This does not measure the average person's welfare, however

		Ratio of variances
		(EMU/floating) –
		output;
		unemployment; real
		interest rate;
		inflation
The central case	1.75	1.27 1.17 4.39 9.80
No indexation	1.88	1.51 1.43 4.57 7.36
Low interest rate sensitivity	1.63	1.09 1.08 4.11 9.99
More labour market flexibility <sup>2</sup>	2.24	1.22 1.09 4.30 21.9
High unemployment	1.78	1.27 1.22 4.45 9.91
More exchange rate instability	1.57	1.13 1.15 3.19 8.54
Enhanced fiscal stabilisers <sup>3</sup>	1.69	1.18 1.14 4.37 9.70

# Table A1 The welfare losses (political cost) produced by EMU compared with floating (floating = 1.0)<sup>1</sup>

The weights used in the political cost are (all divided by the weights total of 2.2):
 1 for output and unemployment variance; 0.1 for inflation and real interest rate variances

2 Monetary policy response to inflation under floating raised by a third, output lowered by a third, to counteract greater inflation volatility from greater wage volatility

3 Assumes no enhanced fiscal activism under floating

one plays with the weights, because it is in effect treating political reaction as equivalent to true dissatisfaction. But, of course, the extent of politically expressed displeasure exaggerates the true average discomfort, partly because to get results in the cross-currents of debate one's case must be put as strongly as possible but mainly because the costs of volatility fall disproportionately on groups that are different from the average – for example, those who lose their jobs or have their houses repossessed or whose businesses fail. We will argue nevertheless that we should pay attention to the popular welfare cost because it is the bitterness and displeasure of these groups which gets reflected in the political debate more than the calm of the average person.

Table A1 shows how this comparison alters as assumptions are changed about the euro or UK environment. Though particular elements in the comparison can be improved under certain assumptions, the general position remains that loss of independent monetary policy creates serious additional volatility for the UK economy.

A final important point is the decomposition of this rise in volatility into its major sources. We found that the key source was the volatility in the euro's rate against the dollar. If we ran the same exercise keeping the euro's real exchange rate (and for good measure its inflation rate and interest rate also) completely shock free, then the UK boom-and-bust index rises only by 16 per cent on euro entry. This can be thought of as the effect of having UK shocks altogether unstabilised by an interest rate response, as compared with having the MPC responding sensitively. (The Liverpool Model, being at the classical end of the spectrum, suggests that the economy is pretty resilient to shocks.) However, when we reinject all the euro shocks kept out above, we obtain the full effect of 75 per cent; this indicates that some four-fifths ([75-16]/75) of the extra turbulence the UK would experience inside the euro is the result of the euro zone's own turbulence, especially against the dollar. This highlights the key difference between joining a world currency and joining a regional currency; the latter may destabilise your currency against third-country currencies. Notice that, were the euro to become stable against the dollar - say by dint of the two regions converging in terms of market flexibility - and were the EU to become a free trade bloc of cooperating countries, the economic problems for the UK would be considerably reduced.

### REFERENCES

- Aristotelous, K. (2001), 'Exchange-rate volatility, exchange-rate regime, and trade volume: evidence from the UK–US export function (1889–1999)', *Economics Letters*, 72: 87–94.
- Bacchetta, P., and E. van Winkoop (2000), 'Does exchange-rate stability increase trade and welfare?', *American Economic Review*, December, 90 (5): 1,093–1,109.
- Bailey, M., G.S. Tavlas and M. Ulan (1987), 'The impact of exchange rate volatility on export growth: some theoretical considerations and empirical results', *Journal of Policy Modelling*, 9: 225–43.
- Barrell, R. (2002), 'The UK and EMU: choosing the regime', *National Institute Economic Review*, April, 180: 54–71.
- Barrell, R., and K. Dury (2000), 'Choosing the regime: macroeconomic effects of UK entry into EU', *Journal of Common Market Studies*, November: 625–44.

Britain in Europe (2000), The case for the euro, London.

- Bush, J. (ed.) (2001), *The economic case against the euro*, New Europe for The No Campaign, downloadable at www.no-euro.com
- European Commission (1990), 'One Market One Money an evaluation of the potential benefits and costs of forming an economic and monetary union', *European Economy*, October, 44.

- Flandreau, M. (2001), 'The Bank, the States and the Market: an Austro-Hungarian Tale for Euroland, 1867–1914', Oesterreichisch Nationalbank working paper no. 43.
- House of Commons (2000), 'What would the euro cost British business?', Trade and Industry Committee Report, Cmnd. HC755.
- Leach, G. (2001), The Third EMU Test, Business for Sterling.
- McCallum, J. (1995), 'National borders matter: Canada–US regional trade patterns', *American Economic Review*, June, 85: 615–23.
- Minford, P. (1998), Markets Not Stakes, Orion.
- Minford, P. (2001), 'Tests 1 and 2: flexibility and the costs in economic variability', in Bush, 2001: 67–78.
- Minford, P., and D. Peel (2002), *Advanced Macroeconomics A Primer*, Edward Elgar, forthcoming.
- MMC (1992), *New motor cars a report on the supply of new motor cars within the UK*, 2 vols, Cmnd. 1808, HMSO.
- Nitsch, V. (2001), 'Honey I just shrunk the Currency Union Effect on Trade', mimeo, Bankgesellschaft, Berlin.
- Persson, T. (2001), 'Currency unions and trade: how large is the treatment effect?', *Economic Policy*, 33: 433–48.
- Rose, A.K. (1999), 'One money, one market: estimating the effect of common currencies on trade', CEPR discussion paper no. 2329, December, Centre for Economic Policy Research, London. (A version appeared in *Economic Policy*, April 2000, 30: 7–45, with comments by economists on the Economic Policy Panel.)
- Roseveare, D., W. Leibfritz, D. Fore and E. Wurzel (1996), 'Ageing populations, pension systems and government budgets: simulations for 20 OECD countries', OECD

Economics Department Working Paper no. 168, OECD, Paris. Thom, R., and B. Walsh (2002), 'The effect of a currency union on trade: lessons from the Irish experience', forthcoming *European Economic Review*, downloadable at http://www.ucd.ie/~economic/staff/bwalsh/bwalsh.html

### **ABOUT THE IEA**

The Institute is a research and educational charity (No. CC 235 351), limited by guarantee. Its mission is to improve understanding of the fundamental institutions of a free society with particular reference to the role of markets in solving economic and social problems.

The IEA achieves its mission by:

- a high-quality publishing programme
- conferences, seminars, lectures and other events
- outreach to school and college students
- brokering media introductions and appearances

The IEA, which was established in 1955 by the late Sir Antony Fisher, is an educational charity, not a political organisation. It is independent of any political party or group and does not carry on activities intended to affect support for any political party or candidate in any election or referendum, or at any other time. It is financed by sales of publications, conference fees and voluntary donations.

In addition to its main series of publications the IEA also publishes a quarterly journal, *Economic Affairs*, and has two specialist programmes – Environment and Technology, and Education.

The IEA is aided in its work by a distinguished international Academic Advisory Council and an eminent panel of Honorary Fellows. Together with other academics, they review prospective IEA publications, their comments being passed on anonymously to authors. All IEA papers are therefore subject to the same rigorous independent refereeing process as used by leading academic journals.

IEA publications enjoy widespread classroom use and course adoptions in schools and universities. They are also sold throughout the world and often translated/reprinted.

Since 1974 the IEA has helped to create a world-wide network of 100 similar institutions in over 70 countries. They are all independent but share the IEA's mission.

Views expressed in the IEA's publications are those of the authors, not those of the Institute (which has no corporate view), its Managing Trustees, Academic Advisory Council members or senior staff.

Members of the Institute's Academic Advisory Council, Honorary Fellows, Trustees and Staff are listed on the following page.

The Institute gratefully acknowledges financial support for its publications programme and other work from a generous benefaction by the late Alec and Beryl Warren.



The Institute of Economic Affairs 2 Lord North Street, Westminster, London SW1P 3LB Tel: 020 7799 8900 Fax: 020 7799 2137 Email: iea@iea.org.uk Internet: iea.org.uk

#### General Director

John Blundell

Editorial Director

Professor Colin Robinson

#### **Managing Trustees**

Chairman: Professor D R Myddelton

Kevin Bell Robert Boyd Professor Tim Congdon Carolyn Fairbairn Michael Fisher Malcolm McAlpine Professor Patrick Minford Professor Martin Ricketts Lord Vinson, LVO Sir Peter Walters Linda Whetstone

#### Academic Advisory Council

Chairman: Professor Martin Ricketts Graham Bannock Professor Norman Barry Professor Michael Beenstock Professor Donald | Boudreaux Professor John Burton Professor Forrest Capie Professor Steven N S Cheung Professor N F R Crafts Professor David de Meza Professor Richard A Epstein Nigel Essex John Flemming Professor David Greenaway Walter E Grinder Professor Steve H Hanke Professor Keith Hartley Professor Peter M Jackson Dr Jerry Jordan Professor Daniel B Klein

Dr Anja Kluever Professor David Laidler Professor Stephen C Littlechild Professor Antonio Martino Dr Ingrid A Merikoski Professor David Parker Professor Victoria Curzon Price Professor Charles K Rowley Professor Pascal Salin Professor Pedro Schwartz Professor | R Shackleton Jane S Shaw Professor W Stanley Siebert Professor Vernon L Smith Professor Nicola Tynan Professor Roland Vaubel Professor Lawrence H White Professor Walter E Williams Professor Geoffrey E Wood

#### **Honorary Fellows**

Professor Armen A Alchian Sir Samuel Brittan Professor James M Buchanan Professor Ronald H Coase Dr R M Hartwell Professor Terence W Hutchison Professor Dennis S Lees Professor Chiaki Nishiyama Professor Sir Alan Peacock Professor Ben Roberts Professor Anna J Schwartz Professor Gordon Tullock Professor Sir Alan Walters Professor Basil S Yamey

Other papers recently published by the IEA include:

### WHO, What and Why?

*Transnational Government, Legitimacy and the World Health Organization* Roger Scruton Occasional Paper 113; ISBN 0 255 36487 3 £8.00

### The World Turned Rightside Up

A New Trading Agenda for the Age of Globalisation John C. Hulsman Occasional Paper 114; ISBN 0 255 36495 4 £8.00

### The Representation of Business in English Literature

Introduced and edited by Arthur Pollard Readings 53; ISBN 0 255 36491 1 £12.00

### Anti-Liberalism 2000

*The Rise of New Millennium Collectivism* David Henderson Occasional Paper 115; ISBN 0 255 36497 0 £7.50

### **Capitalism, Morality and Markets**

Brian Griffiths, Robert A. Sirico, Norman Barry & Frank Field Readings 54; ISBN 0 255 36496 2 £7.50

### A Conversation with Harris and Seldon

Ralph Harris & Arthur Seldon Occasional Paper 116; ISBN 0 255 36498 9 £7.50

### Malaria and the DDT Story

Richard Tren & Roger Bate Occasional Paper 117; ISBN 0 255 36499 7 £10.00

### A Plea to Economists Who Favour Liberty: Assist the Everyman

Daniel B. Klein Occasional Paper 118; ISBN 0 255 36501 2 £10.00

### Waging the War of Ideas

John Blundell Occasional Paper 119; ISBN 0 255 36500 4 £10.00
## The Changing Fortunes of Economic Liberalism

*Yesterday, Today and Tomorrow* David Henderson Occasional Paper 105 (new edition); ISBN 0 255 36520 9 £12.50

## **The Global Education Industry**

*Lessons from Private Education in Developing Countries* James Tooley Hobart Paper 141 (new edition); ISBN 0 255 36503 9 £12.50

# Saving Our Streams

The Role of the Anglers' Conservation Association in Protecting English and Welsh Rivers Roger Bate Research Monograph 53; ISBN 0 255 36494 6 £10.00

# **Better Off Out?**

*The Benefits or Costs of EU Membership* Brian Hindley & Martin Howe Occasional Paper 99 (new edition); ISBN 0 255 36502 0 £10.00

### Buckingham at 25

Freeing the Universities from State Control Edited by James Tooley Readings 55; ISBN 0 255 36512 8 £15.00

#### **Lectures on Regulatory and Competition Policy**

Irwin M. Stelzer Occasional Paper 120; ISBN 0 255 36511 X £12.50

#### **Misguided Virtue**

*False Notions of Corporate Social Responsibility* David Henderson Hobart Paper 142; ISBN 0 255 36510 1 £12.50

#### **HIV and Aids in Schools**

*The Political Economy of Pressure Groups and Miseducation* Barrie Craven, Pauline Dixon, Gordon Stewart & James Tooley Occasional Paper 121; ISBN 0 255 36522 5 £10.00

### The Road to Serfdom

*The* Reader's Digest *condensed version* Friedrich A. Hayek Occasional Paper 122; ISBN 0 255 36530 6 £7.50

#### Bastiat's The Law

Introduction by Norman Barry Occasional Paper 123; ISBN 0 255 36509 8 £7.50

## A Globalist Manifesto for Public Policy

Charles Calomiris Occasional Paper 124; ISBN o 255 36525 X £7.50

### **Euthanasia for Death Duties**

Putting Inheritance Tax Out of Its Misery Barry Bracewell-Milnes Research Monograph 54; ISBN 0 255 36513 6 £10.00

## Liberating the Land

*The Case for Private Land-use Planning* Mark Pennington Hobart Paper 143; ISBN 0 255 36508 x £10.00

# IEA Yearbook of Government Performance 2002/ 2003

Edited by Peter Warburton Yearbook 1; ISBN 0 255 36532 2 £15.00

## Britain's Relative Economic Performance, 1870– 1999

Nicholas Crafts Research Monograph 55; ISBN 0 255 36524 1 £10.00

### Should We Have Faith in Central Banks?

Otmar Issing Occasional Paper 125; ISBN 0 255 36528 4 £7.50

#### The Dilemma of Democracy

Arthur Seldon Hobart Paper 136 (reissue); ISBN 0 255 36536 5 £10.00

## Capital Controls: a 'Cure' Worse Than the Problem?

Forrest Capie Research Monograph 56; ISBN 0 255 36506 3 £10.00

## **The Poverty of Development Economics**

Deepak Lal Hobart Paper 144 (reissue); ISBN 0 255 36519 5 £15.00 To order copies of currently available IEA papers, or to enquire about availability, please write (no postage required from within the UK) to:

Lavis Marketing IEA orders FREEPOST LON21280 Oxford 0x3 7BR

Or contact Lavis Marketing on: Tel: 01865 767575 Fax: 01865 750079 Email: orders@lavismarketing.co.uk

The IEA also offers a subscription service to its publications. For a single annual payment, currently £40.00 in the UK, you will receive every title the IEA publishes across the course of a year, invitations to events, and discounts on our extensive back catalogue. For more information, please contact:

Subscriptions The Institute of Economic Affairs 2 Lord North Street London SW1P 3LB

Tel: 020 7799 8900 Fax: 020 7799 2137 Website: www.iea.org.uk